RECEIVED

03-13-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2017AP000551

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAFEAL NEWSON,

Defendant- Appellant.

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DATED MARCH 7, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY The Honorable Jeffrey Conen, Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2000 CF 4309

Respectfully submitted:

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES
Post Office Box 170258
Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021
(414) 963-4590

By: Rex R. Anderegg State Bar No. 1016560 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE UNDERLYING PROCEEDINGS IN THIS CASE MUST BE VOIDED BECAUSE WISCONSIN'S EXTRADITION REQUEST WAS FATALLY FLAWED AS IT WAS NOT BASED ON A PENDING INDICTMENT, INFORMATION OR CRIMINAL COMPLAINT, BUT INSTEAD, ON A SIMULATION OF THE CRIMINAL PROCESS.

The trial court: did not answer this question,

deeming the matter barred by

Escalona.

II. WHETHER THE ABSENCE OF ANY PENDING CASE DEPRIVED THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PROPER JURISDICTION TO PRESIDE OVER THE PROCEEDING AND ENTER JUDGMENT AGAINST, AND SENTENCE, THE DEFENDANT.

The trial court: did not answer this question,

deeming the matter barred by

Escalona.

III. WHETHER TRIAL AND POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL WERE INEFFECTIVE DUE TO THEIR FAILURE TO CHALLENGE THE WRONGFUL EXTRADITION OF THE DEFENDANT AND THE RESULTANT JURISDICTIONAL PROBLEMS.

The trial court: did not answer this question, deeming the matter barred by Escalona.

IV. WHETHER THE LEGAL ISSUES RAISED HEREIN ARE "CLEARLY STRONGER" THAN A HEARSAY/CONFRONTATION CLAUSE THAT POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL RAISED AND WHICH THIS COURT DEEMED SUITABLE FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION AND DENIED.

The trial court: did not answer this question.

V. WHETHER A DEFENDANT'S IMPRISONMENT IN ANOTHER STATE THAT DEPRIVES HIM OF ACCESS TO WISCONSIN STATUTES AND CASELAW, INCLUDING ESCALONA, CONSTITUTES SUFFICIENT REASONS FOR THE DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO HAVE RAISED THE ISSUES HEREIN IN PRIOR POST-CONVICTION MOTIONS.

The trial court: did not answer this question.

VI. WHETHER A DEFENDANT CAN BE SAID TO BE CAN BE DEEMED TO BE SERVING A SENTENCE, WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 974.06, STATS., WHEN HE IS IMPRISONED IN ANOTHER STATE AND WAITING TO BE TRANSFERRED TO

WISCONSIN TO THEN BEGIN SERVING A CONSECUTIVE SENTENCE.

The trial court:

did not answer this question.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The appellant believes the Court's opinion in this case

will meet the criteria for publication as it will clarify and

develop the law surrounding extradition and jurisdiction.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant does not request oral argument insofar as

he believes the briefs will sufficiently explicate the facts and law

necessary for this Court to decide the issues presented.

-xi-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 23, 1996, Terrance D. Maclin was killed. (R1). On December 6, 1996, Milwaukee Detective Louis Johnson and ADA Robert Kraemer signed a complaint charging Newson with First Degree Intentional Homicide. (R1). The complaint, however, was never filed. (*Id.*). Nevertheless, on that same day, a felony warrant and authorization for extradition was generated and signed. (R3). Neither, however, was this document ever filed. (*Id.*). These facts and circumstances beg the question of what judicial official could have signed the felony warrant and authorization for extradition, when no criminal complaint had been filed.

The record suggests the warrant and authorization was likely signed by ADA Kraemer. (R3). Indeed, in a police report generated by Detective Johnson, he stated:

On Friday, 12-06-96. I <u>Detective Louis</u> <u>JOHNSON</u>, did go to the Milwaukee County District Attorney's Office, located at 821 W. State St., the Homicide Unit, regarding the above Homicide which was presented for an arrest warrant regarding a possible suspect to <u>Assistant District Attorney Robert KRAMER</u>. Upon reviewing this Homicide, **A.D.A. KRAEMER did issue a felony arrest warrant for First Degree Intentional Homicide for the arrest of <u>Rafeal Dashawn NEWSON</u>, B/M, DOB: 03-25-77, 3256A N. Palmer St., I.D. No. 275124. At the present time we are seeking to locate and arrest**

the suspect, Rafeal D. NEWSON, who may possibly be driving a white, 4-door, Fleetwood Cadillac, unknown year.

(R84-43)(bold emphasis added; underlined emphasis in original). The reference to *ADA Kraemer* issuing the felony arrest warrant and authorizing Newson's extradition is confirmed by an affidavit Detective Johnson executed on December 12, 1996, to obtain a phone records subpoena. Detective Johnson again stated, this time under oath, that on December 6, 1996, *ADA Robert Kraemer* issued a felony arrest warrant for Newson. (R84-44). Interestingly, ADA Kraemer notarized the affidavit. (*Id.*).

Meanwhile, Newson had moved to Arizona and adopted an alias: Marquis Johnson. (R84-31). On March 20, 1999, an Arizona grand jury returned an indictment against Marquis Johnson. (R84-1). Newson (aka Johnson) would eventually receive a 19.5-year sentence in Arizona. (R84-2).

On April 11, 2000, and despite the fact a criminal complaint still had not been filed, ADA Jon Reddin and Judge Jeffery Wagner both signed a request for temporary custody to the Tucson State Prison which stated:

Please be advised that the above-named inmate, who is presently an inmate in your institution, is under (indictment)(complaint)(information) in the jurisdiction of which I am a prosecuting officer. Said inmate is therein charged with FIRST DEGREE INTENTIONAL HOMICIDE

(R84-36) (emphasis added). Thereafter, the judge certified that the facts set forth in the request for temporary custody were correct and that the request was "duly recorded," although such was not true on either count. (*Id.*).

On April 28, 2000, Newson was given a Prisoner Option of Rights and Advisory Form notifying him that Milwaukee County was seeking his extradition for a charge of first degree intentional homicide. (R84-37-38). The document notified Newson, *inter alia*, of his right to waive extradition, petition the governor, have a court hearing, and his right to request disposition under Article III, etc. (*Id.*). Newson refused extradition and to that end, refused to sign any paperwork consenting to his extradition. (*Id.*).

Accordingly, on July 17, 2000, the Arizona court conducted an extradition hearing on the interstate detainer. (R84-31). It does not appear the Arizona judge took much care in considering the issues critical to extradition because at the conclusion of the hearing he ordered the temporary transfer of Newson to the *State of Washington*. (R84-31-32). In either event, on August 18, 2000, Newson was extradited from Arizona to Wisconsin. (R84-30). On August 28, 2000, Newson arrived in Milwaukee. (R84-30). Not until the next day - August 29, 2000 - was a criminal complaint, dated in 1996, finally filed against Newson in Wisconsin, and file-stamped August 29, 2000. (R1).

It was on that same date (August 29, 2000) that Newson made his initial appearance in this case, and reserved "all jurisdictional objections." (R92-2). On March 5, 2001, a jury

trial began and on March 8, 2001, the jury returned a guilty verdict. (R100; R101; R102; R103). On April 12, 2001, Newson was sentenced to life imprisonment with no possibility of parole until 2050, a sentence the Wisconsin court further made consecutive to the 19.5 year sentence Newson was already serving in Arizona. (R104).

When the Wisconsin proceedings ended, Newson was transferred back to Arizona to continue serving and complete his sentence in that state. On April 17, 2001, Newson notified the court of his intent to pursue post-conviction relief. (R29). Newson was assigned appellate counsel, but a disagreement arose as to what issue(s) should be pursued on appeal. (R33). Appellate counsel opined there was just a singular issue, while Newson believed there were several meritorious issues. (R33-2). Consequently, on December 19, 2001, counsel moved to withdraw. (R33). On January 7, 2002, the State Public Defender (SPD) notified the court that if Newson's counsel were to withdraw, it would not appoint successor counsel. (R34).

On the same day it received that notification, the circuit court entered an order holding the motion to withdraw in abeyance. (R35). The court used the order as a vehicle to inform Newson of the risks and obligations associated with proceeding without counsel and requested Newson confirm he understood as much, and still wished to proceed *pro se*. (R35-2-3). It should be noted Newson never asked to proceed *pro se*. That idea, instead, originated solely in counsel's motion to withdraw, which positioned Newson's putative *pro se* status as a *fait accompli* in the event of his withdrawal, and at a time, it should be added, when it was unknown whether the SPD would appoint

successor counsel. In either event, the court advised Newson to write the court and either affirmatively acknowledge his desire to proceed without appointed counsel, and his understanding of the attendant obligations and risks, or that in light of the court's warnings, he had decided to continue with present counsel. (*Id.*).

On January 31, 2002, Newson, writing from Buckeye, Arizona, responded in accordance with the court's January 7, 2002, order. (R36). Newson clarified he was not alleging his appointed counsel was a bad lawyer, only that he believed other issues, such as ineffective assistance of counsel, had merit and should be pursued. (R36-2). Newson further explained, however, that it would be impossible for him to proceed *pro se* given that in 1997, Arizona had restricted inmate access to law libraries in its prison system. (*Id.*). Newson explained that the only way he could proceed *pro se* was with some kind of appointed stand-by assistance. (*Id.*). Noting he had *not* been given his own court transcripts, Newson asked if there was any way the court could allow him a different attorney, or legal support. (*Id.*). On February 1, 2002, the circuit court responded by denying counsel's motion to withdraw. (R37).

For the ensuing thirteen years, the indigent Newson remained in the custody of the State of Arizona and continued seeking whatever free legal assistance he could, given the

¹Thereafter, the sole argument appellate counsel raised on appeal was whether improper hearsay had been admitted during Newson's trial or whether Newson's right of confrontation had been violated. (R41). On September 22, 2003, this Court rejected the argument and summarily affirmed Newson's conviction. (*Id.*); *State v. Newson*, 2002 AP 000959-CR.

significant geographical and access-to-research impediments. For example, on November 6, 2003, Newson asked the circuit court if it would appoint advisory counsel for purposes of postconviction relief under section 974.06, Stats. (R43). Newson, perhaps unaware of the novelty of his request, nevertheless set forth a solid basis for it: as an inmate in Arizona, he had no access whatsoever to Wisconsin statutes or case law, and that all of his efforts to gain such access had been thwarted and denied, which he posited was unlawful. (Id.). Newson attached to his request Arizona prison regulations that stated, inter alia, that "[n]o provision is made in this system for extensive, generalized legal research" and, more importantly, that "[t]he Department shall not supply inmates with . . . any legal materials from other states." (R43-8-9). Newson further attached written denials, by Arizona officials, to his written requests for access to Wisconsin statutes and other law. (43-10). On November 11, 2003, the circuit court denied his request. (R44). Accordingly, Newson was left to fend for himself, and with no access to Wisconsin legal materials.

So it was that on July 9, 2004, Newson filed a pro se motion for post conviction relief. (R48). On October 7, 2004, the motion was denied. (R52). On September 20, 2005, this Court affirmed that denial. (R56); *State v. Newson*, 2004 AP 002988. Having been defeated at every turn, Newson did not file anything pertaining to his case for the next five years.

Then, on July 29, 2010, Newson, relying on the Freedom of Information Act, filed a request for information surrounding his criminal complaint, felony warrant, and request for extradition. (R59). Newson, however, never received any

response. (R63-7). Thus, he did not have the benefit of that information when, on September 7, 2010, he filed a second post-conviction motion raising, as best as a *pro se* litigant could, the fundamental problems with the process by which his case began, and in particular, the issuance of a felony warrant and authorization for extradition with no associated pending case. (R60). Perhaps predictably, Newson's second motion was denied on the grounds that any relief was barred pursuant to *State v*. *Escalona Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 169, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994). (R62). For Newson, however, that outcome could not have been predicted. Without access to Wisconsin law, he could not have been aware of the *Escalona* decision. Thereafter, Newson appealed, voluntarily withdrew it, and asked this Court to construe his appeal as a *Knight* petition, which this Court declined to do. (R67; R73; R74; R75; R76; R77).

In the meantime, Newson continued his quest for additional information about his case. On March 28, 2011, he requested of the circuit court the documents pertaining to his warrant and extradition request. (R71). Newson noted that his efforts to obtain said information from the clerk of courts had resulted in responses that his arrest warrant could not be found, that a list of judges from 1996 was not available, and that the name of the individual who signed the warrant could not be determined. (R71-3-4, 9-10). Newson's motion for information, too, was denied. (R72).

As noted earlier, Newson did not return to Wisconsin until July of 2016, at which point, for the first time since his conviction, he finally had access to Wisconsin legal materials. Accordingly, on February 6, 2017, Newson was able to file a

motion that raised the issues that are the subject of this appeal. (R84). Unfortunately for Newson, the circuit court dodged the substance of the legal issues he raised. On March 7, 2017, the circuit court denied Newson's motion on purely procedural grounds, again reasoning his motion was barred by *Escalona*. (R85). This appeal followed. (R89).

ARGUMENT

I. WISCONSIN'S EXTRADITION REQUEST WAS FATALLY FLAWED BECAUSE IT WAS NOT BASED ON A PENDING INDICTMENT, INFORMATION OR CRIMINAL COMPLAINT, BUT INSTEAD, ON A SIMULATION OF THE CRIMINAL PROCESS.

The issuance and filing of criminal complaints in Wisconsin is governed by section 968.02, Stats., which states, in pertinent part:

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, a complaint charging a person with an offense shall be issued only by a district attorney of the county where the crime is alleged to have been committed. A complaint is issued when it is approved for filing by the district attorney. The approval shall be in the form of a written endorsement on the complaint or the electronic signature of the district attorney as provided in s. 801.18(12).
- (2) After a complaint has been issued, it shall be filed with a judge and either a warrant or summons shall be issued or the complaint shall be dismissed, pursuant to s. 968.03. Such filing commences the action.

(Emphasis added). This section reveals that the filing of the complaint with a judge is a prerequisite to the issuance of a warrant or, alternatively, a summons, and confers subject matter jurisdiction on the court.

This basic concept is also embodied in the interstate compact known as the Interstate Agreement on Detainers (hereinafter, "IAD"), into which forty-eight states, including both Wisconsin and Arizona, have entered. 18 U.S.C. App. § 2, p. 692. See section 976.05, Stats.; Ariz. Rev. Stat. Chapter 2, Article 6, § 31-481 (1983). The IAD creates uniform procedures for lodging and executing a detainer, i.e., a legal order that requires a state in which an inmate is currently imprisoned to hold the inmate when he has finished serving his sentence so he may be tried by a different State for a different crime. Alabama v. Bozeman, 533 U.S. 146, 148 (2011). The interpretation of the IAD (i.e., section 976.05) presents a question of law this Court will review without deference to the circuit court. State v. Blackburn, 214 Wis.2d 372, 378, 571 N.W.2d 695 (Ct. App.1997). Moreover, the IAD is a remedial statute this Court will construe liberally in favor of a prisoner. State v. Tarrant, 2009 WI App 121, ¶7, 321 Wis. 2d 69, 772 N.W.2d 750.

A prisoner incarcerated in any jurisdiction that has adopted the Uniform Criminal Extradition Act is entitled to the procedural protections of that Act, particularly the right to a pretransfer hearing, before being transferred to another jurisdiction pursuant to article of Interstate Agreement on Detainers providing procedure by which prosecutor of receiving state may initiate transfer. *Cuyler v. Adams*, 449 U.S. 433 (1981). A primary purpose of the IAD is to protect prisoners

against whom detainers are outstanding. *Id. See also Blackburn*, *supra* at 379–80. Federal case law interpreting the IAD has stated that the primary purposes of the IAD "are to encourage the expeditious and orderly disposition of outstanding charges, to determine the proper status of detainers, and to establish cooperative procedures for the attainment of those goals." *See Schofs v. Warden, FCI, Lexington*, 509 F. Supp. 78, 82 (E.D. Ky. 1981). The IAD was created, *inter alia*, to protect the interests and rights of the prisoner. *Blackburn*, at 380.

Section 976.05(1), Stats., embodies Article I of the IAD and sets forth both the IAD's *raison d'être* and parameters:

The party states find that charges outstanding against a prisoner, detainers based on untried indictments, informations or complaints, and difficulties in securing speedy trial of persons already incarcerated in other jurisdictions, produce uncertainties which obstruct programs of prisoner treatment and rehabilitation. Accordingly, it is the policy of the party states and the purpose of this agreement to encourage the expeditious and orderly disposition of such charges and determination of the proper status of any and all detainers based on untried indictments, informations or complaints. The party states also find that proceedings with reference to such charges and detainers, when emanating from another jurisdiction, cannot properly be had in the absence of cooperative procedures.

(Emphasis added). As can be seen, at the core of the IAD is the prerequisite that an indictment, information or complaint be pending before a detainer can be issued. This language (i.e., "indictment, information or complaint") is repeatedly referenced throughout section 976.05, Stats. Section 976.05(2)(a), for example, defines "[r]eceiving state" as "the state in which trial is to be had **on an indictment, information or complaint** under sub. (3) or (4)." (Emphasis added). *See also, e.g.*, section 976.05(3)(a).

The procedure by which a receiving state obtains jurisdiction over an out-of-state prisoner by issuing a detainer is set forth in section 976.05(4)(a), Stats.:

The appropriate officer of the jurisdiction in which an untried indictment, information or complaint is pending shall be entitled to have a prisoner against whom the officer has lodged a detainer and who is serving a term of imprisonment in any party state made available in accordance with sub. (5)(a) upon presentation of a written request for temporary custody or availability to the appropriate authorities of the state in which the prisoner is incarcerated: provided that the court having jurisdiction of such indictment, information or complaint has duly approved, recorded and transmitted the request: and that there shall be a period of 30 days after receipt by the appropriate authorities before the request is honored, within which period the governor of the sending state may disapprove

the request for temporary custody or availability, either upon the governor's own motion or upon motion of the prisoner.

(Emphasis added). All of these provisions fit hand-in-glove. A pending indictment, information or complaint confers jurisdiction upon the court which must prove, record and transmit the detainer.²

Because Newson refused extradition, Wisconsin was obliged to pursue extradition of him under Article IV of the IAD. Section 976.05(4)(d), Stats., states:

Nothing contained in this subsection shall be construed to deprive any prisoner of any right which the prisoner may have to contest the legality of the prisoner's delivery under par. (a), but such delivery may not be opposed or denied on the grounds that the executive authority of the sending state has not affirmatively consented to or ordered such delivery.

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