RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-10-2018

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP551

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAFEAL D. NEWSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING NEWSON'S THIRD WIS. STAT. § 974.06 POSTCONVICTION MOTION, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY CONEN, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Newson's third section 974.06 motion without a hearing because it was procedurally barred.

Newson's central claim on appeal is that his prior counsel were ineffective for failing to raise jurisdictional challenges to the alleged defects in the initiation of proceedings against him and his return to Wisconsin under IAD. (Newson's Br. 9–22.) The circuit court properly determined that these claims were procedurally barred under *Escalona-Naranjo*.

Alternative grounds support the circuit court's determination. First, the record demonstrates that Newson should be procedurally barred from raising these claims because he previously raised them in his second 974.06 motion and in his habeas petition in this Court. Second, Newson's latest claims were procedurally barred because he failed to raise them on direct appeal or in his prior section 974.06 motions or habeas petition.

A. General legal principles.

After the time has expired for a defendant to pursue postconviction relief or an appeal under Wis. Stat. § 974.02, a prisoner may seek postconviction relief under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. The scope of relief available under Wis. Stat. § 974.06 is limited to review of jurisdictional or constitutional matters, errors that go directly to guilt, and to sentences that were imposed in violation of the law. *Id.* The supreme court has explained that section 974.06 is limited "to matters of jurisdiction or of constitutional dimensions. The motion must not be used to raise issues disposed of by a

previous appeal." State v. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 52, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350.

Successive postconviction motions and appeals are procedurally barred unless a defendant can show a sufficient reason why the newly alleged errors were not previously raised. Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4). This section requires a defendant to "raise all grounds regarding postconviction relief in his or her original, supplemental or amended motion" unless the defendant demonstrates a sufficient reason for failing to previously raise the issue. Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d at 185. Thus, section 974.06(4) generally forecloses a defendant's attempt to resurrect previously litigated claims. "A matter once litigated may not be relitigated in a subsequent postconviction proceeding no matter how artfully the defendant may rephrase the issue." State v. Witkowski, 163 Wis. 2d 985, 990, 473 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1991). An attempt "to rephrase or re-theorize" a previously-litigated challenge is procedurally barred. State ex rel. Washington v. State, 2012 WI App 74, ¶¶ 27, 30, 343 Wis. 2d 434, 819 N.W.2d 305.

To overcome *Escalona-Naranjo*'s procedural bar, a defendant must allege a "sufficient reason" in the postconviction motion itself. *State v. Allen*, 2010 WI 89, ¶ 91, 328 Wis. 2d 1, 786 N.W.2d 124. A claim of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel may provide a sufficient reason to overcome the *Escalona-Naranjo* bar if the defendant can show that the claims alleged in a section 974.06 motion are "clearly stronger" than those that counsel raised postconviction or on direct appeal. *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶¶ 36, 46–47. The defendant bears the burden of showing that "a particular nonfrivoulous issue was *clearly stronger* than issues that counsel did present." *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 45 (citation omitted). The purpose of the clearly stronger standard is to allow a court "to compare the arguments now proposed against the

arguments previously made." *Id.* ¶ 46. A court should reject a *Rothering* claim that fails to allege, with particularity, how and why the claims the defendant wanted raised are "clearly stronger" than the claims postconviction counsel actually raised. *See State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 69, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334.

B. Newson previously litigated these claims and they are barred under *Witkowski*.

Newson's third section 974.06 motion was procedurally barred because he previously raised the same claims in his second section 974.06 motion and in his habeas petition.

In 2010, Newson filed his second section 974.06 motion alleging a jurisdictional defect in his criminal prosecution. 61.) In his accompanying memorandum, Newson described the procedures that resulted in the initiation of criminal charges against him and his return to Wisconsin under the IAD. (R. 60:2.) Newson alleged that the circuit court's jurisdiction was based on "fraudulent documents." (R. 60:3.) He specifically asserted that complaint had not yet been filed against him when an Arizona court ordered his return to Wisconsin. Because the complaint had not been filed, the writ used to secure his return was faulty. (R. 60:6.) Newson also contended that the complaint was faulty because it was not signed by a court commissioner or a 60:7.) Newson further judge. (R. alleges that commissioner did not independently determine that probable cause existed on the complaint. (R. 60:8–9.) Newson asserted that the court commissioner should have dismissed the complaint at the initial hearing because he made a probable cause determination "off fraudulent judicial documents. This is a subject-matter jurisdictional defect." (R. 60:10.)

Based on these alleged defects in the procedures used to initiate proceedings against him, Newson alleged in his second section 974.06 motion that prior counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the circuit court's jurisdiction. (R. 60:11–14.) Newson's motion included the criminal complaint, arrest warrant, and other documentation related to the IAD proceedings before the Arizona court. (R. 60:15–28.)

The circuit court characterized Newson's claim that his counsel were ineffective for failing to challenge the court's jurisdiction based on a defective complaint. Applying *Escalona-Naranjo*, the circuit court determined Newson's motion was procedurally barred because he "could have and should have raised" them in his prior section 974.06 motion. (R. 62:1.)

Undeterred, Newson moved for reconsideration, filing a six page pleading that included numerous attachments. (R. 63.) He asserted that the circuit court erred when it determined that the second postconviction motion was procedurally barred. Newson contended that the ineffectiveness of prior counsel constituted a sufficient reason for failing to raise the claim earlier. (R. 63:1.) Newson rehashed his claims of a jurisdictional defect based on the initiation of the proceedings in his case, violation of the IAD, and the ineffectiveness of his counsel. (R. 63:2–5.)

The circuit court denied Newson's motion for reconsideration. (R. 72.) Newson filed a notice of appeal (R. 67), but subsequently voluntarily moved to withdraw his appeal. This Court granted his motion. (R. 73.) By voluntarily withdrawing his appeal, Newson forfeited his opportunity to have this Court decide whether the circuit court erred when it determined that the claims he raised in his 2010 postconviction were procedurally barred.

After voluntarily dismissing his appeal from his second section 974.06 motion, Newson petitioned this Court for a writ of habeas corpus in Case No. 2011AP1569-W. (R. 77:2.) Newson alleged that the State improperly initiated

proceedings against him. (R. 77:2; R-App. 102–109.) As a result, he contends that the State's efforts to return him to Wisconsin violated the IAD. (R-App. 109–12.) In turn, Newson argued that his prior counsel were ineffective for failing to challenge the initiation of criminal proceedings against him or the IAD process. (R. 77:4 n. 2; R-App. 113–18.)

This Court denied the writ because Newson had failed to explain why he did not raise his claim in his first section 974.06 motion or "why his challenge could not have been addressed in the appeal of his second § 974.06 motion, which actually had raised a jurisdictional issue." (R. 77:3.) Further, this Court also concluded that had it reached the substance of Newson's claim that his prior counsel were ineffective for failing to raise the jurisdictional challenges, it would have "conclude[d] that they lack merit." (R. 77:4 n.2.) Thus, to the extent that Newson's petition raised a *Knight* claim, this Court denied it as well. (R. 77:4 n.2.)

On two separate occasions—in his second section 974.06 motion and in his petition for a writ of habeas corpus—Newson challenged the effectiveness of his prior counsel based on their failure to raise jurisdictional challenges to the complaint and his return to Wisconsin under the IAD. Because Newson has previously raised claims substantially related to the claims raised in his third section 974.06 motion, this Court should determine that his claims are procedurally barred under *Witkowski*.

C. Newson's third section 974.06 motion failed to provide a sufficient reason for his failure to raise his claims in previous section 974.06 motions and is procedurally barred under *Escalona-Naranjo*.

The circuit court properly denied Newson's third postconviction motion based on its determination that

Newson could have previously raised those claims. (R. 85:1–2.) Recognizing that *Escalona-Naranjo* created a procedural bar to the litigation of his current claims, Newson argues that *Escalona-Naranjo* does not apply and that he had a "sufficient reason" for not making his claim in his direct appeal or prior section 974.06 motions. (Newson's Br. 23–27.) The circuit court rejected his arguments (R. 85) and so should this Court.

1. Newson did not articulate a legally sufficient reason for failing to raise his claims on direct appeal or in prior section 974.06 motions.

Newson contends that his lack of access to Wisconsin legal materials, including *Escalona-Naranjo*, while serving his Arizona sentence constitutes a sufficient reason for failing to raise his current claims in prior litigation. (Newson's Br. 26, 28.) Because his prior pleadings demonstrate that he had access to Wisconsin legal resources, Newson has not demonstrated a sufficient reason for failing to previously raise his current claims.

In his second 974.06 motion, Newson cited the Wisconsin statutes and several Wisconsin decisions as well as federal case law to advance his substantive claims. (R. 60:8, 11.) Following the circuit court's decision denying Newson's second 974.06 motion (R. 62), Newson moved for reconsideration, challenging the circuit court's reliance on *Escalona-Naranjo*. He noted that the procedural bar does not apply if he had a "sufficient reason/cause' for not raising the issue earlier. *Escalona-Naranjo*, 184 Wis. 2d at 181–82." (R. 63:1.) Citing *Rothering*, Newson observed that ineffective assistance of counsel may establish a sufficient reason for a failure to raise a claim in a prior motion. (R. 63:1.) Newson's pleadings related to his second section 974.06 motion demonstrate that he had adequate access to Wisconsin legal resources to help him articulate the procedural and

substantive grounds to advance his claims. Further, his motion also demonstrated that he understood that he had to overcome section 974.06(4)'s "sufficient reason" requirement to advance new claims in a subsequent postconviction motion.

Newson's habeas petition in this Court also demonstrated that he had sufficient access to Wisconsin legal resources to help him advance his claims. His petition not only referenced Wisconsin statutes (R-App. 106–07, 115–17, 120–21), but cited Wisconsin case law as well. (R-App. 103–04, 106, 108, 117, 122.)

Even if Newson had lacked access to Wisconsin case law when he drafted his prior section 974.06 motions and habeas petition, the record demonstrates that he had access to adequate legal resources to help him identify and raise his claims. Newson relied heavily on federal case law to advance his arguments in both his second section 974.06 motion and motion for reconsideration. (R. 63:1–6.) To the extent that Newson's claims rested on violations of the U.S. Constitution or the IAD, federal case law would certainly provide precedent that Wisconsin courts would consider in reviewing his claims.

Finally, a comparison of his third section 974.06 motion with his second 974.06 motion and his habeas petition demonstrates that Newson's alleged lack of access to Wisconsin legal resources did not prevent him from adequately developing his claims in prior litigation. Newson's core claims remain the same across all of his pleadings: First, the complaint was not properly executed or filed, which resulted in a defect in the proceedings against him, including his return to Wisconsin under the IAD. Second, because the case against him was not lawfully initiated, the circuit court did not have jurisdiction over his case. Third, his prior counsel were all ineffective for failing to raise these objections in the proceedings against him.

Given the substance of these prior arguments, Newson's claimed lack of access to legal resources would not constitute a "sufficient reason" for failing to adequately develop his jurisdictional argument in his prior motions.

2. The circuit court was competent to decide his prior section 974.06 motions challenging his Wisconsin conviction when he was still serving his Arizona sentence.

Newson also argues that the procedural bar under section 974.06 should not apply because he was still serving an Arizona sentence and had not yet begun serving his consecutive Wisconsin sentence when he filed his previous section 974.06 motions. (Newson's Br. 28–29.) The circuit court rejected Newson's argument. (R. 85:1.) This Court should also reject this argument and decide that Newson was "in custody" for the purposes of filing a section 974.06 motion while still serving his Arizona sentence.

Section 974.06(1) specifies who may bring a motion: "a person in custody under sentence of a court . . ." To be sure, Wisconsin courts have interpreted the phrase "state court" to mean the sentencing court that imposed the sentence under attack. See State v. Bell, 122 Wis. 2d 427, 429, 362 N.W.2d 443 (Ct. App. 1984). But Bell and other cases address situations in which the person is barred from seeking relief after the person has completed the sentence. Id. at 429–30. Those cases have no application here, where Newson had not yet begun to serve the sentence for the conviction that he sought to challenge.

Newson's interpretation of the "person in custody under sentence of a court" language would lead to potentially absurd results. Newson's interpretation would prevent prisoners like him, who have not yet begun serving consecutively imposed Wisconsin sentences, from filing a section 974.06 motion until they begin serving their Wisconsin sentences. A prisoner's out-of-state status should not deprive a prisoner of timely access to an otherwise legitimate procedural mechanism designed to allow legitimate constitutional or jurisdictional challenges to a conviction.

Here, the circuit court reasonably rejected Newson's argument based on the principle that consecutive sentences are treated as a single continuous sentence under Wis. Stat. § 302.11(3). (R. 85:1.) Newson asserts that this section does not apply to consecutive sentences imposed by courts in different states. (Newson's Br. 29.) Even if Newson were correct, the circuit court's decision to treat his Arizona sentence and Wisconsin sentence as a continuous sentence for determining whether Newson was "in custody" under section 974.06 was reasonable and consistent with federal habeas case law.

Because section 974.06 derives from federal habeas law, including 28 U.S.C. 2255, this Court may look to federal cases for guidance when it interprets section 974.06. *State v. Mentzel*, 218 Wis. 2d 734, 743, 581 N.W.2d 581 (Ct. App. 1998).

Under superseded law known as the prematurity doctrine, a prisoner could only use habeas corpus to attack "his current confinement, and not confinement that would be imposed in the future." *Braden v. 30th Judicial Circuit Court of Kentucky*, 410 U.S. 484, 488–89 (1973). But federal courts no longer apply this doctrine.

In *Peyton v. Rowe*, 391 U.S. 54 (1968), the Supreme Court overturned the prematurity doctrine, recognizing that its application created "an indefensible barrier to prompt adjudication of constitutional claims in federal court." *Id.* at 55. It reasoned that a "common understanding [of] 'custody' comprehends respondents' status for the entire duration of

their imprisonment." *Id.* at 64. Based on this reasoning, the Supreme Court held that a state prisoner serving consecutive sentences is in custody under any one of them for purposes of seeking habeas release. *Id.* at 67. "Although *Peyton* involved consecutive prison sentences in the same state, the court soon extended the doctrine [in *Braden*] to situations where the consecutive sentences were to be served in different states." *Gonce v. Redman*, 595 F. Supp. 916, 917 (E.D. Pa. 1984).

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